RECEIVED

Nov 20 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Charles J. McCutchen, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2024-CP-38-00640
Appellate Case No. 2025-001629

Owl Labs, Inc.....Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg County School District.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT OWL LABS, INC.

Lyndey R. Z. Bryant (SC Bar 100804)
W. Taylor Stanley (SC Bar 101377)
Katherine H. Mills (SC Bar 104665)
ADAMS & REESE LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 254-4190
lyndey.bryant@arlaw.com
taylor.stanley@arlaw.com
kate.mills@arlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DISTRICT ON OWL LABS' CLAIMS OF NEGLIGENCE AND NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION AND RETENTION WHERE THE RECORD SUPPORTS DUTIES INDEPENDENT OF CONTRACT?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON OWL LABS' REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from Respondent Orangeburg County School District's ("District") failure to fully pay Appellant Owl Labs, Inc. ("Owl Labs") for electronic devices supplied by Owl Labs to the District for remote learning in its classrooms during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Owl Labs commenced this action on September 23, 2022, asserting claims including: (i) breach of contract, (ii) unjust enrichment/quantum meruit/quasi contract, (iii) negligent supervision and retention, and (iv) negligence. Owl Labs seeks recovery of compensatory damages and contractual attorneys' fees and costs.

The District moved for summary judgment on November 11, 2024, and filed a supporting memorandum on March 5, 2025. Owl Labs filed a memorandum in opposition on March 6, 2025. The circuit court conducted a virtual hearing on March 13, 2025.

By order dated June 6, 2025, the circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the District on Owl Labs' claims for negligence, negligent supervision and retention, and its request for attorneys' fees. The circuit court denied summary judgment to the District as to Owl Labs' claims for the breach of contract and quantum meruit. Both parties subsequently filed motions to reconsider, which the circuit court denied by separate orders dated July 15, 2025.

On August 14, 2025, Owl Labs timely filed its notice of appeal, challenging the circuit court's grant of summary judgment on its tort claims and its denial of attorneys' fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Owl Labs is the manufacturer of an audio/video conferencing device called the “Meeting Owl Pro” (the “Device”). The Device features a WiFi-enabled, portable 360° camera, microphone, and speaker that automatically focuses on the active speaker using proprietary technology. (Appellant’s Mem. Opp’n Summ. J., Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 23:15-24:3.) In 2020, amid the COVID-19 Pandemic and widespread remote learning, demand for the Devices surged. (*Id.* at 16:25-17:18, 26:20-25; *see also id.* at Ex. 2, McNamara Dep. 29:6-15.)



At the beginning of the 2020 school year, South Carolina schools, including the District, relied on remote learning. The District’s Director of Technology, Eric Ham, was tasked with procuring technology for remote learning, using CARES Act funds, and locating a source for purchasing the Devices. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. 36:13-19, 41:24-42:5, 84:15-86:9, 98:14-100:2; *id.* at Ex. 3, Ham Dep. 59:7-62:17; *id.* at Ex. 5, Gist Dep. 51:24-52:12.) Ham was familiar with Owl Labs’ Devices, specifically, because Orangeburg-Calhoun Technical College had purchased them and let the District borrow a couple Devices. (*Id.* at Ex. 3, Ham Dep. 61:4-23.)

After deciding to purchase the Devices, Superintendent Foster and others testified they believed Ham was communicating directly with an “approved” vendor, named Level 8 Communications, LLC (“Level 8”), but that was not the case. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. 51:9-21, 64:13-18; *id.* at Ex. 5, Gist Dep. 28:9-20, 48:14-19.) Instead, Level 8 was *never* an approved

vendor; something the District did not discover until more than five months later in March 2021, and *after* its transaction with Owl Labs was complete. (*See id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. 64:19-65:3, 66:19-23.) In addition, Ham was not communicating with *any* vendor—approved or otherwise. (*Id.* at Ex. 3, Ham Dep. 65:21-66:19.) Instead, Ham was “approached” by his subordinate, David Marshall, the District’s Media Communications Specialist, who claimed he could procure the Owl Labs Devices from Level 8. (*Id.* at 28:3-7.) Ham delegated his authority to Marshall, by permitting him to communicate with Level 8 about the Devices. (*Id.* at 28:4-19, 34:13-35:6, 65:21-66:19.)

Ham admitted he allowed Marshall to communicate with third party vendors. (*Id.* at 65:13-67:14.) Ham characterized this course of dealing with Marshall as *typical*: “I think it’s safe to say that folks [at the District] knew that they could ask . . . Marshall to get or to find out things[.]” (*Id.* at 67:11-14.) The District’s Director of Finance, Gail Sanders, confirmed she also knew Marshall was responsible for ordering the Devices. (*Id.* at Ex. 6, Sanders Dep. 42:23-43:16.) Another District employee, Daphne Walley testified Marshall regularly made recommendations to District employees related to procurement. (*Id.* at Ex. 7, Walley Dep. 23:8-18.)

Despite claiming to Ham that he could source the Devices through Level 8, on October 23, 2020, Marshall directly contacted Owl Labs via its website, using his District email address, and requested a quote for 875 Devices on the District’s behalf. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000316; *see also id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 29:23-30:7.) Owl Labs’ sales employee, Bill Smith, received the email and verified Marshall’s credentials, including checking Marshall’s LinkedIn account and speaking with Marshall by phone. (*Id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 30:8-15, 31:9-32:24, 34:23-35:3.) During the call, Marshall confirmed that the District wanted to order Owl Labs’ Devices using CARES Act funds. (*Id.* at 30:16-22.)

By follow-up email, Marshall, using his District email address, informed Owl Labs:

On Fri, Oct 23, 2020 at 3:05 PM David Marshall <david.marshall@ocsdsc.org> wrote:

Hey Bill,

We were able to work out the purchasing issue, so we can purchase directly through you. Can you please give me the quantity discount for the regular Meeting Owl? They want to see both options.

Thanks,
David



David Marshall

Communications, Business & Community Partnerships

Phone (816) 830-0064

Email david.marshall@ocsdsc.org

Orangeburg County School District

(*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000001.) In response, Owl Labs sent the District a quote for 875 Devices at a discounted price of \$819.18 per unit (18% off the regular price of \$999 each).¹ (*See id.* at OWL_LABS_000001-04.) Owl Labs requested a purchase order from the District to proceed. (*Id.* at OWL_LABS_000009.) Based on these communications, Owl Labs believed it was negotiating with the District; not Marshall individually.

On October 28, 2020, Marshall sent a purchase order to Owl Labs using his District email address. (*Id.* at OWL_LABS_000007, OWL_LABS_000009; *see also id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 44:4-14.) The Purchase Order appeared to be signed by Greg Twitty, the District's Procurement Coordinator. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000007; *id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 44:4-45:9; *see also id.* at Ex. 9, Meltzer Dep. 25:18-26:20.)

Shortly after receiving the District's Purchase Order, Owl Labs realized it inadvertently failed to include freight costs in the quote. The District, through Marshall, immediately objected:

We simply cannot add any other charges to the invoice. The CARES Act funds were divided up to the penny, and every resource has been used to fund these devices for

¹ This discounted rate saved the District a total of \$157,342.50.

our teachers. Your PO was issued today, although with 16 others that we're working with for other products using these funds. ... [A]dding this [cost] post-agreement is entirely unacceptable. Who's to say that you won't add any other charges before shipping? I can't fathom this. So the question is: Will you fulfill the order as quoted or not?

(*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000035; *see also id.* at Ex. 2, McNamara Dep. 40:12-42:18.) Based on Marshall's communication, and representations of hardship on behalf of the District, Owl Labs agreed to waive the freight and shipping costs.² (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000034.)

In later emails, the District insisted that Owl Labs expedite shipping of the Devices, indicating it would "risk losing [CARES Act] funding" if it did not receive the Devices by December 2, 2020. (*Id.* at OWL_LABS_000069-70.) Superintendent Foster testified he personally asked to expedite shipment of the Devices. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. at 100:10-17.) Marshall relayed that District directive to Owl Labs, which complied with the request. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000009, OWL_LABS_000069; *see also id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 37:13-23 ("[I]t was pretty consistent with what we were hearing with the CARES Act. I know most folks needed product in hand before the end of December, so [this request from Marshall] was ... ordinary.").)


² The District saved an additional \$3,000 in freight costs.

Then, Marshall informed Owl Labs:

----- Forwarded message -----
From: **David Marshall** <david.marshall@ocsdsc.org>
Date: Thu, Oct 29, 2020 at 8:47 AM
Subject: Re: Orange County School District -- Owl Labs Follow up
To: Bill Smith <bill@owllabs.com>

Hi Bill,

I found out that we're not tax exempt, as an organization, but finance is not often wrong with their documents. They told me that we're able to be exempt for this specific purchase under form ST-8 under the South Carolina DOR. I've attached it below.



David Marshall
Communications, Business & Community Partnerships
Phone (816) 830-0064
Email david.marshall@ocsdsc.org
Orangeburg County School District

(*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000008.)

Marshall provided Owl Labs with a South Carolina Department of Revenue Exemption Certificate, which appeared to bear Twitty’s signature. (*Id.* at OWL_LABS_000010-11; *see also id.* at Ex. 1, Smith Dep. 46:14-47:3.) In response to receiving the Purchase Order from the District that matched Owl Labs’ quote as well as a tax exemption certificate, both of which appeared to be signed by District’s Procurement Coordinator (Twitty), Owl Labs generated Invoice No. 19327, which it sent to the District on October 29, 2020. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000012-13; *id.* at Ex. 9, Meltzer Dep. 27:19-28:29:9.)

Owl Labs first received a “test payment” of \$100 from what it believed to be the District, which Marshall had informed them would come through before the purchase price could be made. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000041; *see also id.* at Ex. 10, Gaughan Dep. 37:19-38:9.) After Owl Labs confirmed receipt of the test payment, and as required by the Purchase Order, on November 12, 2020, Owl Labs received half of the purchase price, \$358,391.25, by wire from “Orangeburg

County Purchasing,” which Owl Labs reasonably believed came from the District. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000231; *id.* at Ex. 11, Radovan Dep. at 20:9-21:7.) Owl Labs confirmed receipt of the money. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000031.) Consequently, Owl Labs shipped all 875 Devices to Ham at the District’s warehouse location.

After the District received the Devices, on November 19, 2020, and before the second half of the purchase price was paid by the District to Owl Labs, Marshall introduced Owl Labs by email to other District employees, including its Assistant Superintendent for Curriculum and Instruction, Dr. Andress Carter-Sims. (*Id.* at OWL_LABS_000020.) Additionally, on December 3, 2020, Owl Labs sent a DocuSign agreement to Ham for Device registration, which Ham reviewed and electronically signed. (*Id.* at Ex. 14, DEF 014130, 014132.)

On December 3, 2020, at least four District employees³ received an email thread that, if reviewed in full, revealed:

- (1) the Devices were purchased by Marshall from Owl Labs using his District email;
- (2) Marshall negotiated with Owl Labs beginning in late October 2020;
- (3) Owl Labs requested a purchase order from Marshall;
- (4) Owl Labs agreed to discounted pricing and waiver of freight and shipping costs;
- (5) Owl Labs agreed to expedite shipping;
- (6) Marshall sent to Owl Labs a tax exemption form on behalf of the District;
- (7) Marshall indicated a “test transaction” of \$100 was sent to Owl Labs and Owl Labs’ confirmation of receipt of the test payment;
- (8) Marshall stated that the first half of the payment would be paid by the District;
- (9) Marshall requested expedited shipping;

³ Assistant Superintendent Andress Carter-Sims, Quencenia Dantzler, Taphnie Sanders, and Eric Ham.

(10) Marshall stated that \$300,000 was sent to Owl Labs; and

(11) Marshall assured the remaining balance would be paid by District.

(*Id.* at Ex. 3, Ham Dep. 79:4-82:24; *id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. 117:8-118-19; *id.* at Ex. 14, DEF 014129, 014135-41.) These communications were received by the District *before* it paid any money to Level 8.

On January 6, 2021, Ham contacted Owl Labs for assistance in setting up the Devices. (*Id.* at Ex. 14, DEF 013963.) In response, Owl Labs indicated it had “a previous email exchange with David Marshall,” which neither Ham nor any other District employee appears to have investigated. (*Id.*) As noted above, the District had received an email thread as early as December 3, 2020, which would have revealed the scope of Marshall’s involvement in procuring the Devices from Owl Labs, not Level 8. This email with Ham referring to the earlier communications between Owl Labs and Marshall also occurred *before* the District’s second, and final, payment to Level 8.

Owl Labs then began sending several emails to Marshall inquiring about the balance on the invoice. (*See id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000105-106; *see also id.* at Ex. 10, Gaughan Dep. 39:5-25.) Marshall initially cited logistical issues for the District’s delayed payment. First, he stated the District was unable to pay because it was working remotely and could not issue a wire off-campus. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000106.) Second, he claimed the District had “suffered from a cryptocurrency attack” and was “consulting with our district lawyers[.]” (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000105.)

On May 21, 2021, Owl Labs wrote again to the District to remind it of the outstanding invoice. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000042; *see also id.* at Ex. 11, Radovan Dep. 17:6-18:21.) On June 9, 2021, District bookkeeper, Daphne Walley, contacted Owl Labs. (*Id.* at Ex. 7, Walley Dep. 26:2-7, 31:16-32:10.) Owl Labs provided documentation of its communications with

Marshall. (*Id.* at Ex. 13, OWL_LABS_000030-37.) It was only then that the District allegedly realized that Marshall had misrepresented the transaction, leading the District to believe that the Devices were from Level 8, when in fact he had procured them from Owl Labs.

On June 15, 2021, Owl Labs' Director of Revenue, Narayan Krishnan, and Superintendent Foster confronted Marshall in a Zoom meeting, during which Marshall confessed to taking the remaining purchase funds from the District. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, Foster Dep. 53:3-54:5; *id.* at Ex. 12, Krishnan Dep. 26:8-14, 27:23-28:6.) Marshall was indicted in the U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina on December 8, 2021, and convicted on June 8, 2022. (*U.S. v. Marshall*, 5:21-cr-00841-MGL.) The federal court sentenced Marshall to 33 months in prison and ordered full restitution. Marshall has since been released from prison, but Owl Labs remains unpaid.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). Rule 56(c), SCRCP, provides that summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings and other supporting documents “show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP. The Court is not to weigh the evidence. *See S.C. Prop. & Cas. Guar. Ass'n v. Yensen*, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 2001). “[W]here further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law,” summary judgment is not appropriate. *Lord v. D & J Enterprises, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 544, 553, 757 S.E.2d 695, 699 (2014) (citation omitted).

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Doe ex rel. Doe v.*

Batson, 345 S.C. 316, 321, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001); *see also BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005). In determining whether to grant summary judgment, the Court must view the evidence and its reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003). “If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury.” *BPS, Inc.*, 362 S.C. at 325, 608 S.E.2d at 158 (citations omitted). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Id.* at 325-26, 608 S.E.2d at 159 (citations omitted).

ARGUMENTS

The circuit court erred in granting summary judgment by resolving genuine factual disputes in the District’s favor and failing to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Owl Labs, as required by Rule 56. The record demonstrates the District (1) knew of Marshall’s criminal history; (2) failed to train or supervise him and other employees regarding procurement; (3) vested Marshall with authority (actual, apparent, or implied) to contract for the Devices; (4) knew of Owl Labs’ involvement in the transaction; and (5) retained and used 875 Devices without payment. These facts create material disputes regarding the District’s negligence and liability in tort (in addition to contract and equity) for the \$358,391.25 owed, plus interest, attorneys’ fees, and costs.

More specifically, the circuit court’s ruling rests on the flawed premise that any duty owed by the District could arise only from the disputed contract. But South Carolina law recognizes multiple duties that exist independently of contract, including when a defendant voluntarily undertakes a duty or negligently creates a risk, an employer’s duty to exercise reasonable care in retaining and supervising employees, and vicarious liability under agency and *respondeat superior* for acts within the scope of employment. The evidence in this case implicates these theories,

creating genuine factual disputes regarding knowledge, foreseeability, authority, scope of employment, and ratification.

Although the existence of a duty is typically a question of law for the Court, South Carolina authority recognizes that, in certain cases, the question may depend on disputed factual issues that must be resolved by a jury. *See Carson v. Adgar*, 326 S.C. 212, 217, 486 S.E.2d 3, 5 (1997) (“In some circumstances, however, the question of whether a duty arises depends on the existence of particular facts. Where the existence or non-existence of a duty depends on facts, it is the duty of the court to instruct the jury as to the defendant’s duty, or absence of duty, if either conclusion as to the facts is reached.”); *see also* 57A Am. Jur. 2d Negligence § 75 (“Where the facts upon which the existence of a duty depends, are disputed, the factual dispute is for resolution by the jury[.]”).

South Carolina courts have repeatedly held that when factual issues exist regarding whether a defendant voluntarily undertook a duty or otherwise assumed a duty of care, the existence of that duty becomes a mixed question of law and fact. *See Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 219, 826 S.E.2d 285, 294 (2019) (“We conclude there are questions of fact that a jury must resolve to ascertain whether a duty of care arose in this case.”); *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 447–48, 635 S.E.2d 631, 637–38 (2006) (holding summary judgment was inappropriately granted where a genuine issue of fact existed on the question of a duty); *Johnson v. Jackson*, 401 S.C. 152, 160, 735 S.E.2d 664, 668 (Ct. App. 2012) (citations omitted) (reversing summary judgment where a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether the defendant assumed a duty of due care).

This case presents precisely the type of factual questions that render summary judgment improper. In *Doe v. ATC, Inc.*, this Court observed that the elements of negligent hiring and retention (employer’s knowledge and foreseeability of harm) are inherently factual inquiries, and

such factual considerations “will ordinarily be determined by the factfinder, and not as a matter of law.” 367 S.C. 199, 206, 624 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2005). Those same factual questions are present here, where the scope and existence of any duty turn on disputed evidence regarding what the District knew, whether it was a volunteer with respect to procurement matters, what risks posed by its employees were foreseeable to it, and the nature of its conduct in light of that knowledge. These disputed facts make the existence of a duty a mixed question of law and fact that should have been submitted to the jury rather than decided as a matter of law on summary judgment.

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