RECEIVED

Mar 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Charles J. McCutchen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-001629

Case No. 2024-CP-38-00640

Owl Labs, Inc.....Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg County School District.....Respondent.

RESPONDENT’S FINAL BRIEF

HALLIGAN MAHONEY WILLIAMS SMITH
FAWLEY & REAGLE, PA

Allen D. Smith, S.C. Bar No. 15065
asmith@hmwegal.com

Susan M. Fittipaldi, S.C. Bar No. 14225
sfittipaldi@hmwlegal.com

Assatta A. Herbert, S.C. Bar No. 104441
aherbert@hmwlegal.com

P.O. Box 11367
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 254-4035

Attorneys for Respondent

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court correctly dismissed Owl Labs' negligence-based claims where the alleged duties arose solely from a contractual relationship and the claimed damages consisted of purely economic loss.

2. Whether the circuit court correctly dismissed Owl Labs' claim for attorneys' fees under South Carolina's American Rule where no contractual, statutory, or rule-based entitlement existed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This commercial dispute arises from a fraud that a former employee of the Orangeburg County School District ("District") perpetrated against the District and the Appellant, Owl Labs. The underlying transaction arises from the District's purchase of video conferencing devices from a company, Level 8, that is not a party to this action during the COVID-19 pandemic. The District contracted with Level 8 for the devices, and paid Level 8 fully for the video conferencing equipment. Level 8 obtained the devices from Owl Labs, and did not pay fully for the devices. The parties were unaware that a former District employee set up multiple corporations and committed multiple acts of fraud and forgery to steal hundreds of thousands of dollars as part of this transaction.

According to the Complaint, District employees communicated with Owl Labs regarding pricing, educational discounts, and device quantities, and Owl Labs thereafter shipped multiple orders of Owl Devices to the District. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 016-032). Owl Labs alleges that the District used the Owl Devices in furtherance of remote instruction but failed to remit full payment for certain shipments. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 016-032). Owl Labs asserts damages in the form of unpaid invoices. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 016-032). The District denies the allegations of Owl Labs.

As part of this action, Owl Labs pled causes of action for breach of contract, quantum meruit, negligent hiring, negligent supervision, and attorneys' fees. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 016-032). As relevant to this appeal, Owl Labs alleged that the District negligently failed to supervise one of its employees and negligently failed to "verify" the vendor through which purchases were made, resulting in Owl Labs' alleged financial losses. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 016-032). Owl Labs did not allege any personal injury, property damage, or other non-economic harm arising independently of the contractual transaction.

After discovery was completed, the District moved for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC, seeking dismissal of Owl Labs' claims. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 069-070). Following briefing by both parties, the Court held a hearing on the District's motion for summary judgment on March 13, 2025. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 042-068; pp. 071-236; ROA Vol. II, pp. 236-500). By order dated June 6, 2025, the circuit court granted the District's motion in part. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 002-009). Specifically, the circuit court entered summary judgment for the District on Owl Labs' negligence-based causes of action and its claim for attorneys' fees, concluding that the asserted duties arose solely from the alleged contractual relationship between the parties and that fee recovery was barred under South Carolina's American Rule. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 002-009). The circuit court denied the District's summary judgment motion as to Owl Labs' breach of contract and quantum meruit claims. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 002-009). The parties filed cross-motions to reconsider, and the circuit court denied both motions.

Owl Labs filed a Notice of Appeal seeking review of the circuit court's dismissal of its negligence-based claims and its claim for attorneys' fees. (ROA Vol. II, pp. 524-525). Owl Labs contends the circuit court erred in dismissing those claims. The District disagrees; under a reasonable construction of the law and viewing the allegations in the light most favorable to Owl

Labs, the circuit court correctly concluded that South Carolina law does not recognize the negligence-based duties Owl Labs asserts and properly dismissed Owl Labs' fee claim in accordance with the American Rule. Accordingly, the District requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's order.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, a defendant may move to dismiss based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 352 S.C. 221, 573 S.E. 2d 805 (Ct. App. 2002). A trial judge may dismiss a claim when the defendant demonstrates the plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action in the pleadings filed with the court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). Generally, in considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995); *see also Brown v. Leverette*, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987) (trial court must dispose of motion for failure to state cause of action based solely upon allegations set forth on face of complaint); *Williams*, 347 S.C. at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 499 (trial court's ruling on 12(b)(6) motion must be bottomed and premised solely upon allegations set forth by plaintiff).

In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, this Court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. *See Cowart v. Poore*, 337 S.C. 359, 523 S.E.2d 182 (Ct. App. 1999) (looking at facts in light most favorable to plaintiff, and with all doubts resolved in his behalf, the court must consider whether the pleadings articulate any valid claim for relief). The trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law. *Tatum v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina*, 346 S.C. 194, 552 S.E.2d 18 (2001);

see also Gray v. State Farm Auto Ins. Co., 327 S.C. 646, 491 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1997) (motion must be granted if facts and inferences reasonably deducible from them show that plaintiff could not prevail on any theory of the case). Upon review of a dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the appellate court applies the same standard of review implemented by the trial court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 500.

IV. FACTS

The essential facts of this case are not in dispute. Both Plaintiff and Defendant were victims of a criminal wire fraud by former District employee David Marshall. On December 8, 2021, the U.S. Attorney criminally charged David Marshall with federal wire fraud arising out of his scheme to defraud and obtain monies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses. (ROA Vol. I, p. 088-093) As reflected in the Information, Mr. Marshall used his position with the District to steer the District to purchase video cameras from his corporate alter ego, Level 8, and used another corporate entity, Orangeburg County Purchasing, to process the fraudulent transactions, all while concealing his identity to deceive others.

As a part of his scheme, Mr. Marshall contacted Owl Labs to purchase 875 units, without disclosing that he did not have the authority to contract for the District. Mr. Marshall, through the deceptive use of his corporate alter egos, purchased these devices from Owl Labs and then sold these units to the District at a price marked up by \$130,000. (ROA Vol. I, p. 088-093). Mr. Marshall assumed a false identity, generated false documents, and forged signatures of another District employee. (ROA Vol. I, p. 088-093). Mr. Marshall obtained over \$550,000 through his false procurement scheme, generation of false records, and his retention of monies owed to Owl Labs.

Mr. Marshall pled guilty to the charge in the Information. (ROA Vol. I, p. 094-108). This criminal enterprise arose out of the District's need to purchase video conferencing devices.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, school districts across the state and country closed their schools and began to provide instruction to students virtually. This change of instructional delivery required many districts to invest in technology that would better allow teachers to provide virtual instruction to students. In the beginning of the 2020 school year, the District determined that it needed to purchase video cameras for teachers to provide virtual instruction to students who were learning from home. Eric Ham, the District's Director of Technology, provided input to Dr. Shawn Foster, the District Superintendent, as to the types of technology the District could obtain to use during COVID. (ROA Vol. I, p. 114, l. 12 - p. 115, l. 10). Mr. Ham had seen one of Plaintiff's products, the Owl Meeting Pro camera, and thought it was a good option for the District for the virtual instruction. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 129-132).

Because Level 8 was a third-party vendor the District had used previously for the purchase of information technology, Mr. Ham, after looking into it, told the Superintendent that Level 8 could procure video conferencing cameras manufactured by Plaintiff Owl Labs. (ROA Vol. I, p. 116, l. 24 – p. 117, l. 5; p. 132). At no time did the District know that Mr. Marshall was affiliated with Level 8.

The District issued a purchase order to Level 8 on October 28, 2020, for 875 Owl Meeting Pro cameras with a purchase price, including tax, of \$945,621.86. (ROA Vol. I, p. 133-134). Level 8 sent the District an invoice dated October 28, 2020, for a 50% payment of \$472,810.94, and a second invoice for the remaining 50% dated November 23, 2020. (ROA Vol. I, p. 135-137). The District paid Level 8 in full for the devices via two separate checks. Eventually, the cameras were delivered to the District warehouse and were distributed to schools to be used for virtual instruction.

At the same time that the District was purchasing the Owl cameras from the third-party vendor, Level 8, unbeknownst to the District, David Marshall, then an employee in the Communications Department, was working to defraud both the District and Owl Labs. His plan was to order the devices from Owl Labs at a discounted price and then sell them to the District through Level 8 at a higher price and then keep the difference for himself. He began by sending an email to Owl Labs on October 23, 2020, inquiring into a purchase of their cameras. (ROA Vol. I, p. 138-142). David Marshall used his Orangeburg County School District email address, and his signature line showed he was with Communications, Business and Community Partnerships. Bill Smith, a salesperson with Owl Labs, responded to that email and called Mr. Marshall about his inquiry. (ROA Vol. I, p. 138-142).

Mr. Smith eventually emailed Marshall a quote for the sale of the cameras. (ROA Vol. I, p. 143-145). The quote included the normal price per unit of \$999.00 with a discount of \$179.82 per unit for a total per unit cost of \$819.18. The total price for the proposed order of 875 units was \$716,782.50. In communications with Mr. Marshall, Mr. Smith agreed to a 50% pre-payment prior to shipping, instead of the normal 100% prepayment, as was typical with school districts. (ROA Vol. I, p. 152, l. 13 - p. 153, l. 17). The quote did not include any taxes or freight charges. (ROA Vol. I, p. 154, ll. 8-25). When Owl Labs tried to add those costs, Mr. Marshall objected, resulting in the company waiving those charges. (ROA Vol. I, p. 146-161).

On October 28, 2020, Mr. Marshall sent Mr. Smith a purchase order. (ROA Vol. I, p. 162-163). Mr. Marshall also sent Mr. Smith a South Carolina Tax Exemption Form. (ROA Vol. I, p. 164-166). Both documents purport to have the signature of Greg Twitty, Procurement Coordinator for the District. This signature was forged by David Marshall. Owl Labs received the initial 50%

payment through ACH wire transfer from “Orangeburg County Purchasing,” one of Mr. Marshall’s shell companies. (ROA Vol. I, p. 170).

However, Owl Labs did not receive the second payment after the devices were shipped. Mr. Marshall communicated with Harry Meltzer, an operational associate with Owl Labs, and told him that the District had been hacked, which was causing a delay in the payment. (ROA Vol. I, p. 176, l. 10-25). Significantly, Mr. Meltzer testified that the sales representative was responsible for conducting the due diligence to ensure the authenticity of the purchase order and tax-exempt forms that the company received from customers. (ROA Vol. I, p. 174-175). Owl Labs, presumably eager to close such a large sale, did not conduct the normal, required due diligence. Unfortunately, a single telephone call or email to the District as part of a due diligence effort would have prevented this entire fraudulent transaction, but no such calls were made and no such emails were sent.

In the Spring of 2021, with the remaining balance still due, Owl Labs contacted the District requesting that the balance be paid. When the District received the email, it was concerned because the District had no dealings with Owl Labs to purchase these devices and had fully paid Level 8 the purchase price for the devices as of December 10, 2020. (ROA Vol. I, p. 177-180). In June 2023, Superintendent Dr. Foster conducted a Zoom call with Owl Labs representatives as well as David Marshall to discuss the unpaid balance owed to Owl Labs. During that call, David Marshall admitted that he defrauded the company and forged documents, namely the PO and tax-exempt certificate he sent to Owl Labs. (ROA Vol. I, p. 156, l. 17 - p. 157, l. 11; p. 118, l. 11 - p. 119, l. 5).

At his deposition, Mr. Twitty testified that the District is not tax exempt. (ROA Vol. I, p. 184, ll. 14-15). He testified that the District used Level 8, a third-party vendor, to get the Owl cameras, because they were an approved state contract vendor listed in the District’s system. (ROA

Vol. I, p. 185, l. 6 - p. 186, l. 10). If a vendor goes through the vetting process with the state, they receive a state contract number, and other governmental entities such as the District can use that company without having to do their own vetting. In this case, Mr. Twitty looked up Level 8 in the system and saw that it was an approved state vendor. (ROA Vol. I, p. 188, l. 23 - p. 190, l. 11).

After the fraud was uncovered, it turned out that Level 8 provided the state contract number of another company, Flex Technologies, and claimed that Level 8 was doing business as Flex Technologies. (ROA Vol. I, p. 194, l. 1 - p. 196, l. 18; p. 202-203). Mr. Twitty also testified that only he or the Assistant Superintendent of Finance can generate a purchase order. (ROA Vol. I, p. 190, l. 20 – p. 191, l. 17). He testified that he was not aware that David Marshall was communicating with Owl Labs to purchase the cameras. (ROA Vol. I, p. 199, l. 21 – p. 200, l. 19). At his deposition, Mr. Twitty reviewed the fake purchase order Mr. Marshall sent to Owl Labs and noted that an authentic PO would only contain 6 digits (the forged one had two additional digits). (ROA Vol. I, p. 192). He confirmed that no one from Owl Labs ever communicated with him regarding the sale to David Marshall. (ROA Vol. I, p. 193; p. 201, ll. 1-4).

In 2020, Ms. Gail Sanders served as the District's Director of Finance. (ROA Vol. I, p. 207, ll. 7-8). She also noted in her deposition that the fake PO contained more numbers than an authentic PO from the District. (ROA Vol. I, p. 209, ll. 14-24). It also did not contain any charge for taxes or freight, which is not normal. The District is not tax-exempt. (ROA Vol. I, p. 208). Ms. Sanders noted in her testimony that Mr. Marshall's email signature included a phone number that was not local but started with an 816-area code. (ROA Vol. I, p. 210). She believed that Owl Labs may have avoided this situation if they had simply called Eric Ham, the District's Director of Technology. (ROA Vol. I, p. 211).

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